# Trauma patient management: the role of anesthesiologist

Younis, Kareem

Master's thesis / Diplomski rad

2023

Degree Grantor / Ustanova koja je dodijelila akademski / stručni stupanj: University of Zagreb, School of Medicine / Sveučilište u Zagrebu, Medicinski fakultet

Permanent link / Trajna poveznica: https://urn.nsk.hr/urn:nbn:hr:105:458265

Rights / Prava: In copyright/Zaštićeno autorskim pravom.

Download date / Datum preuzimanja: 2024-05-11



Repository / Repozitorij:

<u>Dr Med - University of Zagreb School of Medicine</u> <u>Digital Repository</u>





# UNIVERSITY OF ZAGREB SCHOOL OF MEDICINE

### **KAREEM YOUNIS**

# TRAUMA PATIENT MANAGEMENT: THE ROLE OF ANESTHESIOLOGIST

### **GRADUATE THESIS**



Zagreb, 2023

This graduation paper was recognized at the Department of Anesthesiology, Reanimatology and Intensive Care, University Hospital Centre Zagreb 'KBC REBRO' School of Medicine, University of Zagreb, Under the supervision of dr.sc. Vilena Vrbanović Mijatović. And was submitted for evaluation in the academic year of 2022/2023.

Mentor, dr.sc. Vilena Vrbanović Mijatović

#### Acknowledgments

I would like to acknowledge my mentor, Dr.sc. Vilena Vrbanović Mijatović from the Department of Anesthesiology, Reanimatology, and Intensive Care, University Hospital Centre Zagreb 'KBC REBRO', Zagreb, Croatia for mentoring me on this thesis. I am deeply indebted to her support, corrections, valuable comments, and feedback on this thesis.

I would also like to express my profound gratitude to my parents and friends for providing me with continuous and unlimited support, motivation, and encouragement throughout my years of medical studies. This accomplishment would have never been possible without them.

#### **Abbreviations**

ABCDE Airway, Breathing, Circulation, Disability, Exposure.

CT Computed Tomography

MRI Magnetic Resonance Imaging

IV Intravenous

ECG Electrocardiogram

TBI Traumatic Brain Injury

ICU Intensive Care Unit

NSAIDs Nonsteroidal Anti-Inflammatory Drugs

PPIs Proton-Pump Inhibitors

WHO World Health Organization

COX-2 Cyclooxygenase-2

TBSA Total Body Surface Area

ICP Intracranial Pressure

MAP Mean Arterial Pressure

CPP Cerebral Perfusion Pressure

MTP Massive Transfusion Protocol

CICV Cannot Intubate, Cannot Ventilate

FiO2 Fraction of Oxygen in Inspired Air

LTA Laryngeal Tube Airway

LMA Laryngeal Mask Airway

BMV Bag-Mask Ventilation

ATLS Advanced Trauma Life Support

AMPLE Allergies, Medications, Past medical history, Last meal, Events

GCS Glasgow Coma Scale

FAST Focused Assessment with Sonography for Trauma

eFAST Extended Focused Assessment with Sonography in Trauma

SpO2 Oxygen Saturation

C-Collar Cervical Collar

EMS Emergency Medical Service

BLS Basic Life Support

## **Table of contents**

| Abstract  | (6)  |
|---|------|
| Sažetak   | (7)  |
| 1, Introduction                                   | (8)  |
| 2, Trauma   | (8)  |
| 2.1. Epidemiology of trauma                       | (8)  |
| 2.2. Trauma systems                               | (8)  |
| 2.3. Polytrauma                                   | (9)  |
| 2.4. Mechanisms of injury                         | (10) |
| 3. Advanced trauma life support (ATLS)            | (13) |
| 3.1. Prehospital trauma care                      | (14) |
| 3.2. Primary survey                               | (14) |
| 3.3. Secondary survey                             | (17) |
| 3.4. Tertiary survey                              | (18) |
| 4. Trauma anesthesiology                          | (19) |
| 4.1. Airway management                            | (19) |
| 4.2. Bleeding and resuscitation                   | (25) |
| 4.3. Anesthetic considerations in TBI management  | (28) |
| 4.4. Anesthetic considerations in burn management | (28) |
| 4.5. Pain management                              | (30) |
| 4.6. Management of electrolyte disturbances       | (31) |
| 5. Conclusion                                     | (35) |
| 6. References                                     | (36) |
| 7. Biography                                      | (47) |

**Abstract** 

Title: TRAUMA PATIENT MANAGEMENT: THE ROLE OF

ANESTHESIOLOGIST

Keywords: Trauma, Airway management, Resuscitation, Bleeding, Pain

management, Electrolyte management.

Author: KAREEM YOUNIS

Trauma is one of the leading causes of morbidity and mortality worldwide. Trauma is

caused by external forces that lead to physical injuries. These physical injuries require

prompt and comprehensive care to optimize patient outcomes. Trauma care is a medical

field that encompasses a range of medical interventions and involves a multidisciplinary

approach, with various healthcare providers working together to provide

comprehensive treatment, and to address the diverse needs of patients affected by

traumatic injuries. Trauma anesthesiology is a specialized field focused on the care and

management of patients with traumatic injuries. Trauma anesthesiologists require broad

medical knowledge and diverse skills to navigate high-pressure and time-limited

environments. They perform various procedures including advanced airway

management, vital signs monitoring, pain management, fluid regulation, and

resuscitation. Furthermore, they are able to effectively communicate with healthcare

team members. Hence, trauma anesthesiology plays a vital role in comprehensive care

for patients with traumatic injuries.

6

Sažetak

Nazlov: ULOGA ANESTEZIOLOGA U ZBRINJAVANJU

POLITRAUMATIZIRANOG BOLESNIKA

Ključne riječi: Trauma, Upravljanje dišnim putovima, Reanimacija, Krvarenje,

Upravljanje bolovima, Upravljanje elektrolitima.

Autor: KAREEM YOUNIS

Trauma je jedan od vodećih uzroka morbiditeta i mortaliteta u cijelom svijetu. Traumu uzrokuju vanjske sile koje dovode do fizičkih ozljeda. Ove fizičke ozljede zahtijevaju

brzu i sveobuhvatnu skrb kako bi se optimizirali ishodi za pacijenta. Skrb za

politraumatiziranog bolesnika je područje koje obuhvaća niz medicinskih intervencija

i uključuje multidisciplinarni pristup, s različitim pružateljima zdravstvenih usluga koji

rade zajedno kako bi pružili sveobuhvatno liječenje i odgovorili na različite potrebe

pacijenata pogođenih traumatskim ozljedama. Traumatološka anesteziologija je

specijalizirano područje usmjereno na skrb i liječenje pacijenata s traumatskim

ozljedama. Traumatološki anesteziolozi zahtijevaju široko medicinsko znanje i različite

vještine za snalaženje u napetim situacijama i vremenski ograničenim uvjetima. Oni

izvode različite postupke uključujući napredno upravljanje dišnim putovima, praćenje

vitalnih znakova, upravljanje bolovima, regulaciju tekućine i reanimaciju. Nadalje,

sposobni su učinkovito komunicirati s članovima zdravstvenog tima. Stoga

traumatološka anesteziologija igra ključnu ulogu u sveobuhvatnoj skrbi za pacijente s

traumatskim ozljedama.

7

#### 1. Introduction

Trauma anesthesiology is a specialized field within anesthesiology that focuses on the care and management of patients who have experienced traumatic injuries. Anesthesiologists specializing in trauma care should have broad knowledge and acquire a wide range of medical skills, such as treating a patient in a high-pressure and time-limited environment.

This field involves a variety of medical procedures, some of which are: advanced airway management, monitoring of vital signs, pain management, fluid and electrolytes management, and resuscitation. In addition, trauma anesthesiologists should be able to manage complex medication regimens and they should be skillful and experienced in using ultrasound and other advanced imaging technologies.

Trauma anesthesiology is an important component of the overall care provided to patients who have undergone traumatic injuries. Through their specialized training and expertise, trauma anesthesiologists can communicate effectively with other healthcare team members, including surgeons, nurses, and emergency medical personnel. For this reason, they play a vital role in helping to ensure the best possible outcomes for these patients.

#### 2. Trauma

A traumatic injury is a sudden physical injury that usually requires immediate medical attention and may initially be treated in an emergency department. If ongoing treatment or rehabilitation is necessary, the patient may then be referred to a specialist. Severe cases of major trauma can result in disability or even death.

#### 2.1. Epidemiology of trauma

Trauma leads to approximately six million deaths per year, which is more than all deaths due to infectious diseases added together. Also, it is the greatest cause of death in the age group of 5-29 years. There are multiple causes of trauma, the most common cause is road traffic injuries (23%) and others like drowning, burns, and war are less common. Male deaths due to violence and injury are higher than in females, especially in high-income countries. Death due to trauma is three times higher in low and middle-income countries than in high-income countries (1).

#### 2.2. Trauma systems

In the setting of a trauma injury, a systematic approach is essential because it has been proven to improve the outcome of the patients (2). This systematic approach is divided into three main parts:

- Prevention: injury prevention limits the number of deaths and disabilities caused
  by trauma and reduces the mortality rate caused by road traffic accidents and
  motor vehicle crashes. An example of prevention would be the increased
  awareness needed by the driver and also the use of a safety helmet when riding
  a bicycle (3).
- 2. Pre-hospital care and initial hospital care: pre-hospital care is the care given to the patient before reaching the hospital. This step of the treatment is very important since it increases the chance of the patient's survival. Pre-hospital caregivers are trained to be skillful and competent. They should have a broad knowledge of surgery, emergency, and trauma care. In developed countries, pre-hospital care is advanced which is one of the reasons why the mortality rates are lower (4). The initial hospital care takes place in the emergency department where the Airway, Breathing, Circulation, Disability, Exposure (ABCDE) approach is used to assess, stabilize and treat the patient. This step of management has to be organized so that there is minimal time loss (5).
- 3. Secondary care: this step comes after the patient's stabilization in the emergency department. Here it is decided whether the patient is discharged or has to stay in the hospital for observation and further intervention.

#### 2.3. Polytrauma

Polytrauma refers to a condition in which an individual has two or more traumatic injuries resulting from a single event. At least one of these injuries is life-threatening and requires immediate medical intervention. Just like traumatic injuries, polytrauma can be caused by a variety of similar causes such as car accidents, falls, explosions, warfare, and combat injuries. The injuries may range from mild to severe and can involve multiple body systems, including respiratory, neurological, cardiovascular, and musculoskeletal systems.

The treatment of a polytraumatic patient is quite complicated and involves a multidisciplinary approach, specialists from different medical fields cooperate and work together to address and diagnose the different injuries and to provide the patient with a comprehensive care and treatment plan. The main goal of the first steps of the

treatment is to stabilize the patient, be in control of the situation, prevent any further injuries, and avoid any life-threatening complications. Once the patient is saved then the long-term goals of the treatment may include rehabilitation and physical therapy to help the patient regain function and improve quality of life (6,7).

#### 2.4. Mechanisms of injury

Mechanisms of injury refer to the various ways in which the body can be harmed or damaged. Understanding the mechanism of injury is important in determining the appropriate management and treatment of the injury, and it can also be useful in developing strategies to prevent similar injuries in the future(8).

These mechanisms can be categorized into five types:

#### **Blunt injury**

Is an injury that occurs as a result of an impact or collision between the body and a blunt object, such as a vehicle, wall, or floor. The impact may cause damage to various body tissues and organs, including skin, muscles, bones, and internal organs(9).

Common causes of blunt force trauma are motor vehicle crashes, physical assaults, sports injuries, and falls. Force and location of the impact as well as the health condition and age of the injured person are the factors that determine the severity of the injury(9). The symptoms of this type of injury may vary depending on the location and severity of the injury but may include pain, swelling, and bruising in mild severity and if the injury is severe it can lead to fractures, internal bleeding, and organ damage(10).

The treatment of blunt force trauma also depends on the severity and location of the injury. Mild injuries may only require bed rest, ice, and pain relief medication, while more severe injuries may require surgery or other medical interventions(11).

Examples of the prevention of blunt force trauma may include wearing appropriate gear during sports activities, following safety guidelines while driving, and using caution while walking or moving around in a potentially dangerous environment(12).

#### **Penetrating injury**

Is an injury caused by a foreign object piercing the skin, which damages the underlying tissues and results in an open wound(13). The most common causes of such trauma are gunshots and stab wounds. Damage might also happen to the adjacent structures to the path of the foreign object, this is caused by cavitation of the path and the generation of shockwaves, which cause alternating compression and collapse of the structures lying within the region of the shockwave(14).

The clinical picture differs depending on the injured parts of the body, shape, and size of the penetrating object. Diagnosis is established based on history and imaging studies, such as computed tomography (CT) and magnetic resonance imaging (MRI). Management usually involves supportive measures (hemostasis, blood transfusion, respiratory support), and surgical intervention in order to repair the damaged structures and/or to remove the foreign object(15).

Handling sharp objects safely, avoiding dangerous environments, following gun safety guidelines, and wearing bulletproof protective gear are important steps in the prevention of penetrating trauma because they reduce the risk of accidents and injuries(16).

#### Thermal injury

Is a type of injury that occurs when the body's tissues are exposed to heat, cold, chemicals, and radiation(17). This type of injury can cause damage to the skin, muscles, and internal organs and can range in severity from minor burns to life-threatening injuries like hypothermia or shock(18). Hot liquids, fire, cold temperatures, and chemical agents are examples of causes of thermal injury. The symptoms of the thermal injury vary depending on the severity, mild injuries may cause pain, swelling, redness, and blisters, while in more severe cases the injury might lead to shock, and infection and can be fatal(19). Treatment for minor cases may only require cleaning and bandaging, while more severe cases may require further medical interventions to repair the damaged tissues, prevent infection, or manage further complications(20).

Burns are injuries to tissue caused by heat, chemicals, and/or radiation. The two factors that influence the severity of a burn are its depth and the surface area involved(21). Accordingly, burns are classified into four grades based on the depth of tissue involvement:

1<sup>st</sup>-degree burn (superficial burn), the affected tissue layers include the superficial layers of the epidermis. The burn looks like a sunburn, featuring localized erythema and swelling with no blistering. It heals with no scarring within 3-6 days(22).

2<sup>nd</sup>-degree burn: this type of burn can be divided into two groups(23), 2a (superficial partial thickness burn) where the epidermis and upper layers of the dermis (papillary dermis) are the affected tissue layers, and 2b (deep partial thickness burn), where the affected layers are the epidermis and the whole dermis including papillary and reticular dermis. In addition to tissue swelling and erythema, vesicles, and bullae might develop. And healing occurs within 1-3 weeks without causing any scar tissue.

A 3<sup>rd</sup>-degree burn is a full-thickness burn, affecting the epidermis, dermis, and subcutaneous tissue. Tissue necrosis and eschar formation are seen, and the burn does not heal by itself(24).

4<sup>th</sup>-degree burn is a deeper injury burn that damages the epidermis, dermis, subcutaneous tissue, and deeper structures like muscles, fat, fascia, and bones(25). This burn causes tissue death and requires surgical intervention to be treated.

In the case of massive tissue necrosis sepsis, shock, and sequential organ failure might happen. Patients should be intubated, given supplemental oxygen, and resuscitated with intravenous fluids(26). Different formulas exist to calculate initial fluid requirement, but fluids should be adjusted to maintain clinical stability and appropriate urine output(27). Pulse oximetry, blood gas analysis, and measurement of electrolytes and creatinine levels are important diagnostic procedures for patients with severe burns. Peripheral pulses and capillary refill can be used to detect tissue perfusion.

First and second-degree burns can be treated with antiseptic ointment and dressings, while treatment of third and fourth-degree burns involves debridement of necrotic tissue followed by a skin graft or tissue transfer via flap(28).

#### **Blast injury**

Blast injury is a complex type of physical injury that results from direct or indirect exposure to an explosion. Explosions are physical phenomena that lead to a sudden release of energy, which causes a quick compression of the surrounding medium and an increase in pressure above the atmospheric pressure resulting in a blast wave (overpressure wave) that propagates outward from the explosion at a very high speed(29).

Blast waves that occur within or near solid hard surfaces can be amplified two to nine times because of the shock wave reflection. Hence, they have an increase in their destructive potential. For example, people located between a blast and a building will often suffer more extensive injuries than when a blast occurs in an open area(30).

Blast injuries range from minor injuries to severe injuries. Internal organ damage, including lung and traumatic brain injury (TBI), tympanic membrane rupture, middle ear damage, hearing and vision injuries, abdominal hemorrhage, and perforation are all examples of blast injuries(31).

#### **Environmental injury**

Is an injury caused by exposure to environmental factors such as extreme temperature, rapid changes in ambient pressure, electricity, wildlife (e.g., dog bites, snake bites, spider bites, and zoonotic diseases.) environmental and occupational toxins and irritants (e.g., carbon monoxide toxicity, carcinogen exposure, and metal toxicity)(32).

Electrical injuries occur when an electrical current enters the body, passes through tissues, and exits the body(33). Thermal injuries might occur due to the conversion of the electrical current to heat. They also typically manifest with burns, cardiac dysrhythmias, and/or traumatic injuries(34).

Lightning injury is a type of electrical injury caused by lightning and is characterized by cutaneous manifestations (e.g., burns, Lichtenberg figure, and metalization)(35). Cardiac arrhythmias like ventricular fibrillation and asystole as well as fixed dilated pupils may also be seen(36).

Individuals with an electrical injury require a thorough assessment for burns, cardiac complications, and traumatic injuries. Management may include Advanced trauma life support (ATLS), advanced cardiac life support, cardiac monitoring, and treatment of complications(37).

High-altitude illnesses result from inadequate acclimatization to the low partial pressure of inspired oxygen found at elevations higher than 2500 meters. Manifestations include acute mountain sickness, high-altitude pulmonary edema, and high-altitude cerebral edema. Management involves descending to a lower elevation, supplemental oxygen, and possible pharmacotherapy. Preventative measures include ascending in stages and prophylactic medications (38).

Diving-related illnesses are caused by rapid changes in ambient pressure. Decompression illness is caused by the presence of gas bubbles in the blood or tissue and manifests as musculoskeletal pain, altered mental status, and/or circulatory collapse. Treatment involves 100% oxygen and hyperbaric oxygen therapy(39).

Barotrauma is caused by a large pressure difference between the ambient environment and air-filled structures such as the sinuses, middle ear, and lungs. Treatment is usually conservative but life-threatening complications such as pneumothorax may occur(40).

#### 3. Advanced trauma life support (ATLS)

ATLS is a framework for the systematic evaluation of trauma patients to improve outcomes and reduce missed injuries. It describes management sequences (e.g., ABCDE algorithm) that prioritize the most immediately life-threatening injuries first.

It also aims to standardize trauma care across centers with varying resources and experience with trauma management both in prehospital and hospital settings(41).

#### 3.1. Prehospital trauma care

Prehospital trauma care is situation-dependent and centered on field stabilization of the patient by performing life-saving interventions and basic life support (BLS) in the field by emergency medical services (EMS) and providing rapid transportation to the nearest appropriate hospital(42).

The bystanders play an important role in the prehospital management of a trauma patient. They should assess the safety of the scene before assisting, shout for help and/or call emergency services, remove the patient from dangerous situations, initiate BLS, and perform life-saving interventions such as airway opening maneuvers, hemorrhage control, and spinal immobilization(43).

The EMS typically performs an abbreviated version of the primary survey and ABCDE approach. They aim for airway management for respiratory distress or altered mental status, hemorrhage control with the use of tourniquets or pressure bandages, hemodynamic support via IV fluids, prevent further injury by spinal immobilization with cervical collar placement and backboard, fracture stabilization, provide analgesia, transport of the patient to the nearest hospital while also notifying the receiving hospital, and sign-out of the patient to the trauma team upon arrival with delivering information about the situation and the vital signs of the patient (44).

#### **3.2. Primary survey**

The ABCDE algorithm in ATLS provides a sequence to treat the most life-threatening injuries first. In clinical practice, the trauma team members evaluate and treat these simultaneously, continually reassessing the severity of each injury throughout the resuscitation.

#### Airway and cervical spine stabilization

In this step, the airway obstruction must be identified and treated. The causes of obstruction might be due to various reasons, like blood, direct injury, edema, and/or because of altered mental status or coma.

The initial step is assessing the airway. The ability of the patient to talk and answer questions typically correlates with a patent airway. Examine the airway for foreign bodies or injury (e.g., facial fractures, burns) and evaluate for signs of airway

compromise, which are signs and symptoms that suggest impending or total loss of airway patency. These include partial airway obstruction (e.g., stridor, hypoxia, signs of increased work of breathing) and complete airway obstruction (e.g., paradoxical chest/abdomen movement, inability to speak) as well as features of conditions associated with an anticipated loss of airway protection (e.g., reduced level of consciousness, inability to swallow secretions). The evaluation of signs of respiratory distress is also important, these signs include tachypnea, use of accessory muscles of respiration, nasal flaring, grunting, cyanosis, and an inability to lie flat caused by increased work of breathing to meet oxygen demands(45).

The second step is to perform initial interventions such as suction of oropharyngeal secretions and/or blood, performing airway opening maneuvers (e.g., head-tilt/chin-lift maneuver) and, insertion of basic airway adjuncts (oropharyngeal airway/nasopharyngeal airway)(45).

Intubation is performed on patients with airway obstruction and/or respiratory failure, which is a condition that occurs when the respiratory system is unable to adequately oxygenate the body and/or eliminate carbon dioxide(46). Patients with depressed mental status and patients with severe shock and/or cardiac arrest are also to be intubated.

Cervical spine injury is presumed in any trauma patient complaining of neck pain, or with any significant head injury, neurological signs or symptoms suggestive of cervical spine injury, or intoxication or loss of consciousness. The application of a cervical collar (C-collar) to protect the cervical spinal cord will limit the degree of cervical extension that is ordinarily expected for direct laryngoscopy and tracheal intubation. The front portion of the C-collar can be removed to facilitate tracheal intubation as long as the head and neck are maintained in a neutral position by an assistant maintaining manual stabilization(47).

#### **Breathing**

The goal of this step is to identify and treat chest injuries (e.g., tension pneumothorax, open pneumothorax, massive hemothorax, flail chest, and tracheobronchial injuries). The trauma team should maintain suspicion of pulmonary injury in a trauma patient, because pulmonary injuries may evolve into a tension pneumothorax once mechanical ventilation is started(41).

Oxygen saturation (SpO2) must be evaluated and titrated to SpO2 > 95%, and continuous pulse oximetry should be started to assess oxygenation. Monitoring of rate

and quality of respirations, inspection for jugular venous distention and tracheal deviation, lung auscultation, and inspection for chest wall injuries (e.g., penetrating wounds, subcutaneous emphysema, and absent breath sounds) are all important steps in the assessment of ventilation. Extended Focused Assessment with Sonography in Trauma (eFAST) should be considered to help identify pneumothorax at the bedside(48).

The initial intervention is supplying oxygen via mask ventilation or mechanical ventilation in the case of respiratory failure. If the patient has a sucking chest wound it should be treated with a 3-sided dressing. If a traumatic pneumothorax is suspected in a patient requiring positive pressure ventilation, tube thoracostomy should be performed, which is done by inserting a flexible tube into the thoracic cavity at the 4<sup>th</sup>-5<sup>th</sup> intercostal space between the anterior and midaxillary line (safe triangle)(49). Chest X-ray is used to evaluate the lungs if required but only once the patient is stabilized.

#### Circulation

Circulation is the third part of the primary survey. The main goal is to provide immediate hemodynamic support and hemostatic methods to control and stop the bleeding while identifying sources of bleeding. These methods include applying external pressure, interrupting blood flow with a tourniquet, vessel suturing or ligation, angiographic embolization, and using pharmacological hemostatic drugs such as tranexamic acid(41).

Monitoring of the vitals and continuous cardiac telemetry, evaluating central and peripheral pulses, capillary refill time, and level of consciousness, are needed in the assessment of the hemodynamic status. As well as evaluating the overall appearance of the patient and his color (e.g., pink, pale, cyanotic) which helps with the diagnosis of bleeding and adequacy of the blood perfusion(50).

Localizing the hemorrhage, identifying obvious pelvic or long bone deformity, and identifying indications for immediate surgery (e.g., exploratory laparotomy) should be done rapidly.

Focused Assessment with Sonography for Trauma (FAST) test is performed to quickly identify hemopericardium, intrathoracic, intraabdominal, and/or intrapelvic bleeding in unstable patients(51).

The initial interventions are placing two large-bore IVs and administration of 1 liter of warmed isotonic crystalloid bolus(52). In case the patient does not respond to IV fluid,

the trauma team should proceed to blood transfusion(52). If peripheral IV cannot be obtained, intraosseous access should be considered(53).

#### **Disability**

Once the A, B, and C are covered, the next thing that should be assessed is the disability and neurological status of the patient. The level of consciousness is assessed with the Glasgow Coma Scale (GCS). The pupillary function is examined with the pupillary light reflex and helps in the assessment of the brain stem function. Looking for extremity movement and sensation of the four limbs in order to make sure that there is no evidence of any focal neurologic deficit that could suggest a problem with the brain or spinal cord. If the patient is altered in any way, it is important to check the glucose levels and to check for other signs of comorbidities that might have contributed to the current trauma event(41).

It is crucial to identify life-threatening TBI, consult a neurosurgeon, and begin with neuroprotective measures to limit secondary brain injury, which are the maintenance of normoxia, normocapnia, normotension, and euglycemia(54).

The initial management for patients that show signs of significant neurologic impairment or patients that are significantly comatose or have  $GCS \le 8$  is airway support and intubation(55). If the patient is stable, then emergent cranial imaging with non-contrast CT should be obtained. The treatment should then proceed depending on the imaging results.

#### **Exposure**

Lastly, after A, B, C, and D are covered and the patient is stabilized, the managing team must think about exposing and undressing the patient completely. Examining the entire patient from head to toe is important since some injuries could be hidden and not diagnosed. The team must keep in mind that undressing the patient can cause hypothermia, which can cause coagulopathy and exacerbate bleeding and trauma. So once the physical examination is done, the team should make sure that hypothermia is avoided and the patient is rewarmed(41).

#### 3.3. Secondary survey

The secondary survey is an important component of the ATLS algorithm and is performed once the primary survey has been completed and any life-threatening injuries have been addressed. The purpose of the secondary survey is to conduct a more detailed

assessment of the patient's injuries and to determine the most appropriate treatment plan.

The secondary survey is divided into three components:

- 1. Head-to-toe physical examination: This includes a comprehensive examination of the patient's head, neck, chest, abdomen, pelvis, extremities, and back. The examiner should look for any signs of injury such as bruises, ecchymosis, lacerations, or deformities, and assess for any tenderness, swelling, or crepitus. They should also check for any signs of neurological deficits(56).
- 2. Vital signs: The patient's vital signs should be monitored and recorded, including their heart rate, blood pressure, respiratory rate, and oxygen saturation. Any abnormalities should be noted and addressed.
- 3. Laboratory and imaging studies: Blood tests, such as a complete blood count and basic metabolic panel, should be ordered to assess for any signs of bleeding or organ dysfunction. Imaging studies, such as X-rays, computed tomography (CT) scans, or ultrasounds, should be ordered as needed to further evaluate any suspected injuries. Allergies, Medications, Past medical history, Last meal, Events and environment related to the injury (AMPLE) history is a recommended focused history approach done in the rapid evaluation of patients with trauma.

The secondary survey is critical in identifying any injuries that may not have been immediately apparent during the primary survey, as well as in monitoring the patient's condition over time. Effective implementation of the ATLS protocol, including the secondary survey, can help improve outcomes for trauma patients.

#### **3.4.** Tertiary survey

During the last few years, the medical teams in trauma centers noticed that there was an increase in undiagnosed injuries in trauma patients (57). Hence more attention is being paid to the tertiary survey. It is performed 24 hours after the patient has been admitted and after the primary and secondary surveys have been completed and any life-threatening injuries have been addressed. The purpose of the tertiary survey is to identify any injuries that may have been missed during the primary and secondary surveys, particularly those that are less urgent but still require medical attention(58). The tertiary survey involves a thorough head-to-toe examination of the patient, including a detailed assessment of all body systems. It also includes a review of the patient's medical history and any imaging studies that have been performed.

It also includes a review of the patient's vital signs, including heart rate, respiratory rate, blood pressure, body temperature, and oxygen saturation. The healthcare provider will also monitor the patient's urine output and assess their fluid and electrolyte status. Overall, the tertiary survey is a critical component of the ATLS protocol, as it helps to ensure that all injuries are identified and treated appropriately. By performing a thorough assessment of the patient, healthcare providers can help to prevent long-term complications and improve the patient's overall outcome(59).

#### 4. Trauma anesthesiology

As mentioned earlier, the management of a trauma patient requires a multidisciplinary approach involving different medical specialties. Trauma anesthesiologists are trained to care for patients with any form and severity of injury. While the trauma surgeon focuses on treating the patient's injury, the anesthesiologists are in charge of the patient's vital life functions: breathing, blood pressure, and establishing an adequate blood supply and oxygen to the heart, brain, and other organs. Anesthesiologists also provide effective airway management and resuscitation with IV fluids, blood transfusions, and potent medication. They also administer anesthetics to put the patient into a deep unconscious state like a medically induced coma and take away the patient's pain.

#### 4.1. Airway management

Airway management involves a variety of medical procedures and devices that are used to restore or maintain an effective, safe pathway for oxygenation and ventilation. These procedures are indicated for patients who have symptoms and signs of airway obstruction and respiratory failure (e.g., noisy breathing, stridor, hoarse voice, hypoxia, and/or hypercarbia), or in patients that need airway protection (e.g., for general anesthesia)(60).

Basic airway maneuvers are the initial steps performed to treat airway compromise in patients that do not have any serious complications. They are used to relieve airway obstruction in an obtunded but spontaneously breathing patient. The main goals of these maneuvers are specific positioning strategies (head-tilt/chin-lift, jaw thrust), oxygenation, and/or ventilation of the patient. They can also be used as a temporary bridge before the placement of a definitive airway in apneic patients, or in patients with intense respiratory failure. All patients require monitoring with pulse oximetry(61).

Head-tilt/chin-lift is a maneuver done to reposition the head and neck to open the airway. The patient's head should be tilted posteriorly to 15-30° of atlantooccipital extension, then the chin should be lifted with the fingers to pull the tongue and oropharyngeal soft tissues anteriorly. This position must be maintained to align the oral, pharyngeal, and laryngeal axes. This maneuver should not be done to a patient with a suspected cervical spine injury(62).

Jaw-thrust maneuver may be used with head-tilt/chin-lift maneuver, or alone in a patient with cervical spine injury. The fingers are placed behind the angles of the lower jaw, then the mandible and tongue are displaced anteriorly to open the airway.

Bag-mask ventilation (BMV) is used to ventilate a patient with positive pressure. A mask is held in place over the face, and breath is delivered by squeezing a self-inflated bag that is attached to the mask. The goal is to deliver 500-600 ml tidal volume at 10-12 breaths/minute(63).

The jaw is lifted towards the mask using the 3<sup>rd</sup>, 4<sup>th</sup>, and 5<sup>th</sup> fingers of one hand, forming an E-shape and the mask is held firmly to the face with the thumb and index finger of the same hand, forming a C-shape. The oxygen is then delivered by compressing the bag with the other hand. To confirm the adequacy of the BMV, bilateral chest rise should be seen, air leaks around the mask should not be heard, and air entry on auscultation should be confirmed in both lungs(64).

Basic airway adjuncts are devices that may be used in combination with airway opening maneuvers to improve airway patency. Oropharyngeal airway is a rigid curved device that is placed in the mouth to prevent the tongue from occluding the airway. It is typically used as a bridge to intubation, but it can be attached to an unconscious patient with airway obstruction. The size of the device should be equal to the distance between the corner of the mouth to the earlobe. The device should be inserted with the concave side up or lateral until it passes the tongue and then it should be rotated until the concave is down. It should be ensured that the device has bypassed the tongue and it is not pushing it down(65).

Nasopharyngeal airway is a soft flexible tube that is inserted through the nostrils to the nasopharynx to prevent the tongue from occluding the airway. It is indicated in oropharyngeal obstruction, and it is contraindicated in facial fractures, and basilar skull fractures, hence it can pass through a fractured cribriform plate directly into the brain, and in coagulopathy (severe epistaxis caused by the tube may worsen airway compromise).

The insertion starts by lubricating the tube, topical decongestant to decrease the epistaxis should be considered. The tube is then gently inserted into the nostril posteriorly and not superiorly, then it is twisted back and forth to ease the passage until the tip of the tube sits at the opening of the oropharynx and the flange of the tube sits comfortably on the nostril(66).

Supraglottic airway devices are advanced airway devices that occlude the distal oropharynx to facilitate positive pressure ventilation when an endotracheal tube is not available(67). Many devices are used in medical practice, some of which are laryngeal mask airway (LMA), I-gel, and laryngeal tube airway (LTA). LMA contains an inflatable mask that is attached to the end of a tube, second-generation LMAs have some safety adaptations (e.g., bite blocks, gastroesophageal drain ports), while intubating LMAs have adaptations that allow passage of an endotracheal tube through the device. I-gel is similar to LMA, but the mask is anatomically molded, noninflatable, and made of a soft gel-like material. LTA is a device consisting of a tube with two inflatable cuffs and ventilation holes between them. The smaller distal cuff occludes the esophagus, and the larger proximal cuff occludes the laryngeal inlet. Intubating LTA features additional adaptations in order to allow for the passage of an endotracheal tube(68).

There are three recommended sizes of the devices, for LMA and I-gel the recommendation is based on the weight of the patient, while for LTA the recommendation is based on the height. Size 3 for small adults, size 4 for medium adults, and size 5 for large adults (68).

After choosing the size of the device appropriate to the patient, the devices are lubricated at their tip (careful not to block ventilatory openings), the patient is placed in the sniffing position with his mouth opened widely, then the device is held firmly and inserted. LMA and I-gel are inserted smoothly along the hard palate and downwards with the outlet facing caudally until the devices pass the base of the tongue and resistance is felt. LTA is inserted until the connector reaches the teeth with the tube rotated at 45-90° from the midline (concave lateral) until it passes the base of the tongue, then it should be rotated back to the midline (concave up)(69).

After insertion is done, the correct placement of the device must be confirmed by hearing air movement in both lungs on auscultation, visible chest rise, and fall, and monitoring oxygenation (stable or improving).

Endotracheal intubation is a complex procedure that requires extensive training and expertise. It is typically performed in emergencies or during surgeries by healthcare professionals with specialized training, such as anesthesiologists, emergency doctors, or critical care specialists, to ensure adequate oxygenation and ventilation of the patient. In endotracheal intubation, a tube is inserted into the trachea through the mouth (or nose) in order to allow for gas exchange via mechanical ventilation and to protect the airway from aspiration.

The endotracheal tube is a hollow flexible tube that is designed to enter the trachea and is placed distal to the vocal cords(70). The procedure is commonly preceded by preoxygenation of the patient with 100% oxygen to replace alveolar nitrogen with oxygen and to increase the safe-apnea time by applying high-flow oxygen (10-12L/min) through a nonrebreather mask(71). It is important to assess the patient prior to the procedure and identify any red flags for a difficult airway by looking for features associated with a difficult airway, evaluating the mouth and larynx position, assessment of oral accessibility (Mallampati score), looking for obesity and evaluating the neck mobility (LEMON assessment)(72).

Sedation and paralysis of the patient using induction agents and neuromuscular blocking drugs are typically performed before the start of intubation. Induction agents sedate the patient, and as a result, the airway reflexes are diminished, which facilitates intubation. The induction agent is chosen based on the experience of the physician and the characteristics of the patient. Propofol (2-2.5 mg/kg IV once)(73), etomidate (0.3 mg/kg IV once)(74), and ketamine (1-2 mg/kg IV once)(75) are three commonly used induction agents. Neuromuscular junction blockers are used in order to paralyze the patient, administering them before intubation decreases the risk of injuring the airway and provides better visualization of the glottic opening by relaxing the muscles of the head and neck(76). Succinylcholine is a depolarizing neuromuscular junction blocker that is commonly used due to its rapid-acting characteristic (0.6 mg/kg IV once)(77). It may cause severe hyperkalemia; thus, it is contraindicated in patients that have hyperkalemia, renal impairment, severe burns, rhabdomyolysis, and neuromuscular diseases (e.g., multiple sclerosis)(78). Rocuronium is an example of a nondepolarizing neuromuscular blocker that can be used in all patients (1.0 +/-- 0.2 mg/kg IV once)(79), or in patients who have contraindications to succinylcholine(80). It has a long duration of action (30-50 minutes), which is why it is avoided in patients with difficult airways due to the risk of deterioration.

Intubation procedure can be done by direct laryngoscopy (the traditional approach), or by the routinely performed videolaryngoscopy. After the assessment of the patient, induction of anesthesia, and preoxygenation, the patient is positioned in the sniffing position (head elevated to a height of 10 cm, neck flexed at the lower cervical vertebrae and extended at the atlantooccipital joint), the mouth of the patient should be gently opened, the laryngoscope is inserted, and the tongue is moved to the side by sweeping with the groove. Once the tip of the laryngoscope is at the epiglottic vallecula and the epiglottis is visible, the laryngoscope is lifted gently forward and upward to elevate the epiglottis and reveal the vocal cords and arytenoid cartilages. Next, the styleted endotracheal tube is inserted, the stylet is removed when the tip of the tube reaches the glottis, and the tube is further inserted until the cuff of the tube passes the vocal cords. The cuff is inflated in order to protect the airway from any secretions, blood, or gastric contents(81). Confirmation of correct endotracheal tube placement is done via carbon dioxide detection through capnometry or capnography (gold standard), by imaging (chest X-ray), or by auscultation of bilateral breath sounds. Early complications of intubation may include hypoxia, bradycardia, pulmonary aspiration, laryngospasm, or bronchospasm. Long-term intubation may lead to vocal cord injury and damage (e.g., vocal cord granuloma), irritation and scarring of the trachea may also occur, which might cause laryngotracheal stenosis (narrowing of the larynx and/or trachea) which commonly manifests with hypoxia, respiratory distress, and stridor(82–84).

Intubation is also routinely performed via videolaryngoscopy, with a laryngoscope that allows indirect fiberoptic visualization of the glottic opening. A camera delivers a video from the distal end of the blade to an external video screen. Videolaryngoscopy is used in a previously known or suspected difficult airway. The procedure is similar to direct laryngoscopy, except that the patient does not have to be always put in the sniffing position, and the confirmation of the tube passing the vocal cords is confirmed immediately on the screen(85).

Sometimes intubation can lead to further complications in a critically ill patient that suffers from a traumatic injury, so some modifications should be made to the standard intubation procedure. For example, if the patient is hemodynamically unstable, further hypotension must be avoided. IV fluid bolus before the sedation of the patient should be considered. Etomidate or ketamine should be used as induction agents (because propofol causes hypotension). Bolus-dose vasopressors (e.g., phenylephrine), which are vasopressor medications that are used as an immediate temporizing measure in

patients with very low blood pressure to prevent hemodynamic collapse, are given as an IV bolus(86).

Patients with conditions such as head injury, hypoxia, or brain hypoperfusion present with agitation as a result of their primary condition, which makes it hard to intubate them. In this case, the use of an induction agent (e.g., ketamine) is used to facilitate preoxygenation before intubation (delayed-sequence intubation)(87).

Extubation is the process of removing the endotracheal tube. The reason and timing of extubation depends on the reason for intubation (general anesthesia or respiratory failure), and it also depends on the respiratory status of the patient and the risk of complications after the extubation is done (e.g., aspiration, excessive secretions, hypoventilation, and upper airway obstruction). To extubate, some criteria need to be met, the patient's vitals must be acceptable, the neuromuscular blockade must be adequately reversed, the patient must have adequate spontaneous minute ventilation, inhalation anesthesia drugs used to maintain sedation (e.g., sevoflurane) are stopped, swallowing and cough reflexes are seen, and the patient is awake and clinically stable. The patient must be oxygenated with 100% fraction of oxygen in inspired air (FiO2), suction of the airway is performed to minimize the risk of aspiration, the endotracheal tube is removed as the patient exhales, the cuff is deflated, and the securing mechanism is removed(88).

In some cases, intubation is hard to be performed due to a difficult airway that is caused by upper airway distortion, excessive oral bleeding/secretions, limited neck mobility, or limited mouth opening. The inability to intubate the patient, in addition to the inability to ventilate and/or maintain arterial oxygen saturation with either BMV or a supraglottic device, is referred to as a cannot intubate, cannot ventilate scenario (CICV). In most CICV cases, surgical airway management (e.g., surgical cricothyrotomy, needle cricothyrotomy, and emergency tracheostomy) is indicated(89).

Surgical cricothyrotomy allows for the passage of a tube into the trachea through an incision in the skin, cervical fascia, and cricothyroid membrane. A 1.5 cm wide transverse incision is made through the skin, subcutaneous tissue, and cricothyroid membrane. Then a tapering cylindrical instrument (bougie) is inserted and directed toward the feet of the patient. The tube is then placed over the bougie and inserted into the trachea, the cuff is then inflated and the bougie is removed(90). Correct placement is confirmed via positive partial pressure of carbon dioxide present at the end of expiration.

Needle cricothyrotomy is done through the passage of a large bore cannula through the cricothyroid membrane into the trachea. It is commonly used with jet ventilation, which is a type of ventilation in which oxygen is delivered at high pressure to the trachea. Although needle cricothyrotomy supports oxygenation, the ability to ventilate is limited and exhalation is passive and might be insufficient, which may cause gas trapping, progressive hypercapnia, and respiratory acidosis(91,92).

Emergency tracheostomy is performed by a trained practitioner. An opening (stoma) is created in the cervical trachea below the cricoid cartilage(93). Tracheostomy is not performed as much as cricothyrotomy because it might take more time to be done, and it is associated with more bleeding. As it is already known, there is no surgical procedure that is free of risk. Bleeding, pneumothorax. laceration of the posterior tracheal wall and damage to surrounding structures are all examples of complications that might arise during surgical airway procedures(94).

#### 4.2. Bleeding and resuscitation

The team providing help and rescue to a bleeding patient must be familiar with medical terms such as hemorrhage classifications, damage control surgery, and damage control resuscitation.

Hemorrhage is classified into four classes (I, II, III, IV)(95). Class I hemorrhage is the loss of blood that does not affect the hemodynamic status of the patient (heart rate and blood pressure are not affected by the blood loss). Usually, the amount of blood lost is less than 15% of the circulating blood volume. Class II hemorrhage is when the volume of blood lost stimulates sympathetic responses (increase in heart rate) so that organ perfusion is maintained. Usually, the percentage of blood lost is 15-30% of circulating blood volume. IV fluids are usually indicated for class II hemorrhage. And if bleeding continues, then blood transfusions may be required. In class III hemorrhage, 30-40% of blood is lost. Vasoconstriction and tachycardia are not sufficient to maintain blood perfusion to the organs, and metabolic acidosis is seen in arterial blood gas analysis (96). Blood transfusions are needed to restore tissue perfusion and tissue oxygenation. Class IV hemorrhage is a life-threatening hemorrhage. If more than 40% of blood is lost, the patient will be unresponsive and extremely hypotensive. The patient will require massive blood transfusion and rapid bleeding control interventions to decrease the probability of a lethal outcome. These patients often develop trauma-induced coagulopathy and experience a high likelihood of death(97).

Trauma-induced coagulopathy is a complex and multifactorial condition that manifests as abnormal blood clotting and impaired hemostasis, leading to severe bleeding, compromised wound healing, and increased mortality among trauma patients(98). Several factors contribute to the development of this condition (99). Hypoperfusion and tissue damage trigger the release of procoagulant substances, disrupting the normal clotting process. The trauma response activates clotting factors, platelets, and endothelial cells, which can result in the depletion of clotting factors and platelets (100). Inflammatory mediators released after trauma further disrupt the balance between procoagulant and anticoagulant factors(101). Additionally, large-volume fluid resuscitation dilutes clotting factors and platelets, exacerbating coagulation abnormalities(102). Clinical signs include prolonged bleeding, uncontrolled hemorrhage, and poor response to traditional resuscitation methods. Laboratory tests may show abnormalities in standard coagulation parameters. Managing trauma-induced coagulopathy involves controlling bleeding, balanced resuscitation with blood products, administration of clotting factors and antifibrinolytics, and temperature control to prevent the worsening of the coagulopathy (103).

Damage control surgery is an expedited surgical approach aimed at addressing immediate life-threatening conditions and stabilizing the patient's overall condition. The goal is to prevent further injury and provide a window of time for more definitive treatment. After surgery, the patient is transferred to the intensive care unit (ICU) for further monitoring and resuscitation. Subsequent surgeries or procedures may be performed once the patient's stability has been regained to complete necessary repairs or address additional injuries(104).

Damage control resuscitation is a comprehensive approach to managing severely injured patients, particularly hemodynamically unstable patients. It involves a combination of techniques aimed at rapidly controlling bleeding, maintaining tissue perfusion, and optimizing the patient's physiological status to improve survival outcomes and avoid deterioration and death(105). Administering blood products (red blood cell: fresh frozen plasma: platelets) at equal ratios (1:1:1) is a common intervention used in damage control resuscitation that has become an accepted approach and technique in trauma patient management(106). The red blood cells will improve oxygen delivery to ischemic, hypoperfused tissues. Fresh frozen plasma will improve clotting by providing clotting factors V, VIII, and fibrinogen. Platelet transfusions are necessary and beneficial for prolonged resuscitation, as it is in most cases of major

trauma injury. Severely hemorrhaging patients require a universal donor blood components transfusion (uncrossmatched blood type O negative) in the early phase of the resuscitation(107). Then the administration of blood products progresses to type-specific, and then to crossmatched transfusion.

It is important not to forget about the potential blood-borne infections such as hepatitis B and C, as well as noninfectious complications (like transfusion-related acute lung injury) when administering blood transfusions to patients(108,109). While there is a risk of transfusion-related reactions, it is important to remember that this risk is minimal compared to the much higher probability of death resulting from severe bleeding.

A massive transfusion protocol (MTP) is an established set of guidelines and procedures implemented in hospitals to facilitate the rapid and efficient administration of blood products to patients who are experiencing or at risk of severe bleeding and require a large volume of blood transfusion(110). It is typically activated in situations where significant blood loss is expected. Specific triggers or criteria are defined to activate the MTP. These criteria may include the estimated blood loss, signs of hemodynamic instability, laboratory values (e.g., hemoglobin level), or clinical decision by the healthcare team. MTP aims to maintain adequate oxygen-carrying capacity, correct coagulopathy, and prevent dilutional coagulopathy, most commonly by administering 1:1:1 blood products(111). These products are typically stocked near the resuscitation area for quick access. The MTP emphasizes the need for timely laboratory testing, including complete blood count, coagulation studies (e.g., prothrombin time, activated partial thromboplastin time), and other relevant tests such as fibrinogen levels or viscoelastic. It also recognizes the importance of continuous reassessment of the patient's condition, laboratory values, and response to transfusion. Adjustments to the blood product ratios or other interventions may be made based on the evolving clinical situation. Lastly, MTP involves clear communication and coordination among members of the healthcare team involved in the transfusion process, including emergency physicians, surgeons, nurses, blood bank personnel, and laboratory staff. It may include designated roles and responsibilities for each team member during the massive transfusion.

During the anesthetic management of a bleeding trauma patient, a key issue that faces the anesthesiologist is the need to avoid sedation agents that cause hypotension, vasopressors, and minimize crystalloid infusions until the bleeding is controlled(112).

#### 4.3. Anesthetic considerations in TBI management

TBIs are categorized as either primary (subdural hematoma, epidural hematoma, intraparenchymal injury, and diffuse neuronal injury) or secondary brain injuries(113). The focus of TBI management is to maintain adequate cerebral perfusion and arterial oxygenation and treating elevated intracranial pressure (ICP)(114). Cerebral perfusion pressure (CPP) is the difference between mean arterial pressure (MAP) and ICP. CPP is considered normal when it is between 60- and 80 mm Hg(115). ICP is normally 7-15 mm Hg(116). If there is an increased risk for elevated ICP (20-25 mm Hg), or if examinations and medical tests show neurological impairment, then an ICP monitor should be placed(117).

Hyperventilation is one way for the treatment of elevated ICP. Cerebral blood perfusion is related to arterial carbon dioxide concentration (decreasing arterial CO2 causes cerebral vasoconstriction, thus reducing ICP)(118). However, hyperventilation should be avoided in the early stages of the treatment of a hypotensive patient with TBI, because it increases the risk of neurological ischemia(119).

Osmotic diuretic therapy with mannitol is another used method of reducing elevated ICP. Mannitol increases plasma osmotic pressure, which draws extravascular fluid into the vascular system, which will decrease ICP and brain edema(120). The diuretic effect of mannitol should alert the anesthesiologist to monitor the plasma osmolarity and electrolytes (especially potassium)(121).

Barbiturate coma therapy is a treatment approach used in certain cases of refractory intracranial hypertension and elevated ICP. It involves the administration of barbiturate medications, typically thiopental or pentobarbital, to induce a deep coma-like state in the patient(122). Barbiturates decrease cerebral metabolic demand, reduce brain swelling, and lower intracranial pressure by suppressing cerebral metabolism and neuronal activity, which leads to decreased oxygen and glucose consumption by the brain. This reduction in metabolic demand can help protect brain tissue, mitigate secondary brain injury, and potentially improve neurological outcomes.

#### 4.4. Anesthetic considerations in burn management

All patients with severe burns share the inability to regulate their body temperature, making it crucial to maintain a resuscitation environment close to body temperature.

This can be achieved using radiant warming, forced air warming devices, and fluid warming devices(123).

Major burns induce a unique hemodynamic response termed burn shock (a state of normovolemic hypoperfusion). Cardiac output decreases by up to 50% within half an hour of the injury (due to massive vasoconstriction), and a decline in plasma volume and urine output is noted(124).

Intravenous fluid therapy and fast restoration of circulating volume are the key factors improving the survival rates of patients that suffer from major burns. crystalloid fluids (particularly lactated Ringer's solution) are used in the resuscitation of burn injuries. Fluid administration should be maintained throughout the initial 24-hour period of resuscitation(125). The Parkland and modified Brooke are two formulas that require an understanding of the rule of nines (used to estimate burned surface area as a percentage of total body surface area (TBSA)) and are used as a guide to fluid resuscitation in burn injury(125). According to the Parkland protocol, it is recommended to administer a fluid volume of 4 mL/kg/% TBSA within the initial 24-hour period. Half of the calculated volume should be administered within the first 8 hours, while the remaining amount is given over the subsequent 16 hours(126,127). The modified Brooke protocol recommends 2 mL/kg/% TBSA, half of which is administered in the first 8 hours, and the rest is administered during the following 16 hours(128). Both formulas use urine output as a marker for assessing fluid resuscitation. 0.5-1.0 mL/kg/h urine production is an indicator of adequate circulating volume.

Sometimes, the amount of the needed fluid for resuscitation is miscalculated. For example, if the patient is sedated with drugs that cause hypotension, he should be treated with vasopressors and not extra fluid. Another example is when first-degree burns are mistakenly added to the TBSA value, which leads to wrong calculations. If the intravenous fluid therapy volumes increase beyond the intended calculations, a phenomenon called fluid creep might occur. This phenomenon is associated with complications related to fluid therapy, such as abdominal compartment syndrome, and pulmonary complications (e.g., pulmonary edema, pneumonia)(129,130).

Unconsciousness or decreased levels of consciousness in patients with burn injuries can be a sign of carbon monoxide poisoning, which requires mechanical ventilation with a high concentration of inspired oxygen therapy, or, if severe, endotracheal intubation. Carboxyhemoglobin can be measured via arterial blood gas analysis. Intubation and mechanical ventilation are indicated when carboxyhemoglobin is 20% (80%)

hemoglobin oxygen saturation). Death from carbon monoxide poisoning occurs when carboxyhemoglobin levels exceed 60%(131,132).

#### 4.5. Pain management

Pain is an unpleasant sensation that is caused by injury or illness. The distinction between acute and chronic pain is a common method to differentiate pain. Acute pain can be a sign of acute injury and tissue damage. Chronic pain is long-lasting pain that lasts beyond the normal recovery and healing time(133,134). Standardized pain intensity scales (e.g., numerical rating scales, visual analog scales, categorical scales) are used to assess the severity of pain in a clinical setting(135). Pain can be managed in various ways, like painkiller drugs, physical therapy, behavioral therapy, and interventional and surgical methods. There are many categories of analgesic drugs used, like nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) and cyclooxygenase-2 (COX-2) inhibitors, paracetamol, and opioids(136).

The management of acute and chronic pain is done according to the World Health Organization (WHO) analgesic ladder, which is a 3-step algorithm that recommends giving nonopioid analgesics (i.e., NSAIDs) for mild pain, a combination of nonopioid analgesics and weak opioids (i.e., tramadol, codeine) for moderate pain, and nonopioid analgesics, weak opioids, and strong opioids (i.e., morphine, fentanyl) for severe pain(137).

Analgesic drugs are given at a minimal effective dose and shortest time so that side effects are minimized. Some analgesics are given orally, like acetaminophen, ibuprofen, and tramadol, while some other analgesics are given parenterally like ketorolac, fentanyl citrate, and morphine sulfate. Peptic ulcers are a common side effect of prolonged use of NSAIDs. Thus proton-pump inhibitors (PPIs) must be considered in patients taking NSAIDs(138). Laxatives and antiemetics are also used to manage other side effects, like constipation, which is commonly noted when using opioids(139). In some cases, outside of the operating room, sedation and analgesia might be required for some procedures (procedural sedation and analgesia), like abscess drainage, electrical cardioversion, and closed reduction of fractures(140). The sedatives and analgesics are used in lower doses than the doses applied in general anesthesia. The goal is to achieve anxiolysis, amnesia, analgesia, and mild to moderate sedation while maintaining airway reflexes and function. Some of the sedative agents used are midazolam, dexmedetomidine, ketamine, etomidate, and propofol. Fentanyl and

alfentanil are analgesic agents that are commonly used in procedural sedation and analgesia. These sedative and analgesic drugs may be combined into different regimens. For example, propofol or etomidate plus an opioid (fentanyl or alfentanil), midazolam plus fentanyl, ketamine and midazolam, and some other combinations(141).

Although complications from procedural sedation and analgesia are not very common. However, patients must be closely monitored and not discharged unless their vitals are normal, and they can communicate clearly. Some complications might include oversedation and respiratory depression, aspiration, hypoxia, hypotension, hypoventilation, allergic reaction, nausea, and vomiting(142). That is why procedural sedation must be done by an experienced doctor with advanced skills.

Many patients in the ICU are not capable of communication due to their unique condition. Assessment of pain in such patients requires different approaches than in normal patients. The behavioral pain scale is one method to assess pain in critically ill patients with mechanical ventilation. Facial expressions, mechanical ventilation compliance, and movement of the upper limbs are the evaluated components. A score of 5 or higher is an indicator of significant pain(143). Another method to assess pain in critically ill patients is the critical care pain observation tool. This method evaluates facial expressions, body movements, muscle tension, vocalization in patients that are not intubated, and ventilator compliance in intubated patients. Significant pain is indicated by a score of 3 or higher(144).

The type and severity of pain are the factors that determine the kind of painkillers used in the treatment. In severe cases, IV opioids are the first-line analgesics used in combination with adjuvant NSAIDs(145). In cases of neuropathic pain, gabapentin or carbamazepine can be used(146). It is important to be careful of the side effects of opioids (e.g., central nervous system depression, tolerance, and delirium).

#### 4.6. Management of electrolyte disturbances

Electrolyte imbalances and disturbances like hyponatremia, hypokalemia, hypocalcemia, hypomagnesemia, and hypophosphatemia are commonly seen in the ICU and critically ill patients. Renal and hepatic functions should be tested and taken into consideration when planning a repletion of an electrolyte. It is important to identify and treat the underlying cause of the electrolyte disturbance. The repletion depends on the severity of the patient and the serum level of the electrolyte(147).

Hyponatremia is commonly seen in patients who experienced TBI, in dehydrated patients, or in patients who increased amounts of water intake (i.e., polydipsia)(148). Hyponatremia can be mild (serum sodium levels of 130-135 mEq/L), moderate (125-129 mEq/L), or severe (<125 mEq/L). Mild to moderate hyponatremia can be asymptomatic or cause nonspecific symptoms like headache, fatigue, and dizziness. Severe hyponatremia can cause ataxia, confusion, seizures, respiratory failure, and coma(149).

The correction of sodium in severely symptomatic patients or acute hyponatremia (onset in less than 48 hours) aims for the rapid increase in serum sodium levels with IV hypertonic saline bolus (3% sodium chloride 100 mL bolus over 10 minutes) to avoid neurological damage (e.g., cerebral edema and brain herniation). If the patient has acute hyponatremia without severe symptoms, then an IV hypertonic saline infusion is given (3% sodium chloride 0.5-2 mL/kg/hour). Serum sodium levels are monitored every 2-4 hours after the target levels have been achieved. Urine output must be closely monitored (every hour). Because excessive diuresis might be a sign of overcorrection. Rapid correction of sodium can be dangerous and cause serious side effects like osmotic demyelination syndrome, and intracranial hemorrhage (due to the shearing forces resulting from water shifts, which can lead to rupturing of the vessels)(150).

Mild and moderate hypovolemic hyponatremia is treated with isotonic saline infusion (0.9% sodium chloride). Euvolemic and hypervolemic hyponatremia is mainly treated with fluid restriction. Loop diuretics (i.e., furosemide 20 mg IV) can be used in hypervolemic hyponatremia(151).

Potassium is repleted via a peripheral IV line, orally, or through central line administration of potassium chloride (in severe cases). The target serum potassium level should be close to 4.0 mEq/L It is always important to check for magnesium levels before potassium repletion (low magnesium levels can increase kidney potassium excretion)(152). If serum potassium levels are less than 2.5 mEq/L, potassium chloride is administered via central line at a rate of 10-40 mEq/hour with hourly monitoring of serum potassium, vitals, and serial electrocardiogram (ECG). If the serum potassium level is 2.5-2.9 mEq/L, oral potassium chloride, if tolerated by the patient, is given (40 mEq orally) every 2-4 hours, or via peripheral line (10 mEq/hour) until target levels are reached (serum potassium levels are monitored at least once daily). In cases of higher serum potassium levels (3.0-3.9mEq/L), potassium chloride is given orally (10-40

mEq) once, or until target levels are reached with daily monitoring of the serum potassium levels)(153,154).

Cautions should be taken while repleting potassium since it can cause dangerous adverse side effects like hyperkalemia, and cardiac arrhythmias. That is why potassium should always be administered slowly.

During magnesium repletion, the target levels of serum magnesium are 1.5-2.4 mg/dL. The oral route of repletion is the preferred method of repletion (if possible); because IV magnesium is slowly distributed into tissues and can be quickly excreted by the kidneys. If the patient's serum magnesium is less than 1 mEq/dL, magnesium sulfate is given intravenously 4-8 g over 12-24 hours, the maximum rate of administering is 1 g/hour. And in the case of hemodynamic instability, 2 g IV bolus is given over 5-10 minutes, then 4-8 g IV (1 g of IV magnesium sulfate has approximately 8 mEq of elemental magnesium). Continuous telemetry and monitoring of serum magnesium 6-12 hours after every administration should be considered in patients receiving magnesium. If the serum levels are 1.0-1.5 mEq/dL, IV magnesium sulfate (1-4 g IV once), or magnesium gluconate 500 mg orally every 8-24 hours, can be given. Repletion of magnesium is often not necessary in patients who have serum magnesium levels of 1.6 mEq/dL or higher, but it can be considered in patients who are at risk (e.g., hypomagnesemia, cardiac arrest). Some adverse effects of magnesium are diarrhea, nausea, vomiting, low blood pressure, and cardiac arrest (hypermagnesemia can cause cardiac arrest)(155–157).

The measuring of ionized calcium levels is one common and efficient way to measure physiologically active calcium. It is important to measure and correct the albumin levels when testing serum calcium levels because a decrease in albumin (hypoalbuminemia) will decrease serum calcium levels. When there is an attempt to correct hypocalcemia, repletion will target serum calcium levels to about 8.5 mg/dL. IV calcium gluconate (1-2 g IV bolus administered over 10-20 minutes, then 5.4-21.5 mg/kg/hour IV infusion) is given when corrected serum calcium is equal to or less than 7.5 mg/dL. Serum calcium levels are monitored every 4-8 hours with continuous telemetry and vital signs monitoring. If corrected serum calcium levels are between 7.6 mg/dL and 8.4 mg/dL, then repletion via oral route is preferred. Calcium carbonate/citrate (1500 mg) is given orally daily(158,159). Adverse effects of calcium repletion may include local irritation, soft tissue calcifications, hypotension, and bradycardia.

Hypophosphatemia is commonly seen in critically ill patients due to the increased metabolism and high phosphate excretion in the kidneys. The serum phosphorus levels should normally be higher than 3 mg/dL. IV phosphate (0.48-1.00 mmol/kg body weight over 4-6 hours) is given to patients with serum phosphorus levels less than 1.6 mg/dL. Continuous telemetry and serum phosphorus monitoring (6 hours after infusion) should be considered in all critically ill patients receiving phosphate. If serum phosphorus levels are 1.6-2.2 mg/dL, phosphate is administered IV (0.32-0.64 mmol/kg over 4-6 hours). And if serum phosphorus levels are 2.2-3.0 mg/dL, then a lower dose of IV phosphate is administered (0.16-0.32 mmol/kg). It is important to test the potassium levels while considering phosphate repletion. If potassium levels are less than 4.0 mg/dL, then phosphate should be administered as potassium phosphate (careful with hyperkalemia). And if serum potassium levels are equal to or higher than 4.0 mg/dL, phosphate is then administered as sodium phosphate. Some adverse effects of phosphate repletion include confusion, arrhythmias, sore throat, precipitation with calcium, and renal damage(160–162).

#### 5. Conclusion

Trauma remains one of the leading causes of morbidity and mortality in all age groups and is the primary cause of death in the young. A coordinated and comprehensive approach is crucial for maximizing the chances of survival and full recovery in trauma patients. This approach encompasses various stages, including initial scene care, transportation, resuscitation, surgery, intensive care, and rehabilitation.

Trauma anesthesiologists contribute to caring for the trauma patient by performing a wide range of medical procedures, including advanced airway management, vital signs monitoring, pain management, fluid and electrolytes regulation, and resuscitation.

## 6. References

- 1. Rossiter ND. "Trauma—the forgotten pandemic?" Int Orthop. 2022 Jan;46(1):3–11.
- 2. Roudsari BS, Nathens AB, Arreola-Risa C, Cameron P, Civil I, Grigoriou G, et al. Emergency Medical Service (EMS) systems in developed and developing countries. Injury. 2007 Sep;38(9):1001–13.
- 3. Sidwell R, Matar MM, Sakran JV. Trauma Education and Prevention. Surg Clin North Am. 2017 Oct;97(5):1185–97.
- 4. Wilson MH, Habig K, Wright C, Hughes A, Davies G, Imray CHE. Pre-hospital emergency medicine. Lancet Lond Engl. 2015 Dec 19;386(10012):2526–34.
- 5. Harrois A, Hamada S, Laplace C, Duranteau J, Vigué B. The initial management of severe trauma patients at hospital admission. Ann Fr Anesth Reanim. 2013;32(7–8):483–91.
- 6. Nauth A, Hildebrand F, Vallier H, Moore T, Leenen L, Mckinley T, et al. Polytrauma: update on basic science and clinical evidence. OTA Int Open Access J Orthop Trauma. 2021 Mar;4(1):e116.
- 7. Devendra A, Nishith P G, Dilip Chand Raja S, Dheenadhayalan J, Rajasekaran S. Current updates in management of extremity injuries in polytrauma. J Clin Orthop Trauma. 2021 Jan;12(1):113–22.
- 8. Dumovich J, Singh P. Physiology, Trauma. In: StatPearls [Internet]. Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing; 2023 [cited 2023 May 10]. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK538478/
- Simon LV, Lopez RA, King KC. Blunt Force Trauma. In: StatPearls [Internet]. Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing; 2023 [cited 2023 May 10]. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK470338/
- 10. McAnena OJ, Moore EE, Marx JA. Initial evaluation of the patient with blunt abdominal trauma. Surg Clin North Am. 1990 Jun;70(3):495–515.
- 11. D'Errico E, Goffre B, Mazza D. Blunt abdominal trauma: current management. Chir Ital. 2009;61(5–6):601–6.
- 12. Frink M, Zeckey C, Haasper C, Krettek C, Hildebrand F. [Injury severity and pattern at the scene. What is the influence of the mechanism of injury?]. Unfallchirurg. 2010 May;113(5):360–5.
- 13. Kuhajda I, Zarogoulidis K, Kougioumtzi I, Huang H, Li Q, Dryllis G, et al. Penetrating trauma. J Thorac Dis. 2014 Oct;6(Suppl 4):S461–5.
- 14. Inci I, Ozçelik C, Taçyildiz I, Nizam O, Eren N, Ozgen G. Penetrating chest injuries: unusually high incidence of high-velocity gunshot wounds in civilian practice. World J Surg. 1998 May;22(5):438–42.
- 15. Sharma A, Jindal P. Principles of diagnosis and management of traumatic pneumothorax. J Emerg Trauma Shock. 2008 Jan;1(1):34–41.

- 16. Durso AM, Paes FM, Caban K, Danton G, Braga TA, Sanchez A, et al. Evaluation of penetrating abdominal and pelvic trauma. Eur J Radiol. 2020 Sep;130:109187.
- 17. Ramzy PI, Barret JP, Herndon DN. Thermal injury. Crit Care Clin. 1999 Apr;15(2):333–52, ix.
- 18. Wassermann D. [Systemic complications of extended burns]. Ann Chir Plast Esthet. 2001 Jun;46(3):196–209.
- 19. Cimino VG, Krosner SM, Hanumadass ML. Burn injuries in firefighters. Occup Med Phila Pa. 1995;10(4):707–20.
- 20. Toussaint J, Singer AJ. The evaluation and management of thermal injuries: 2014 update. Clin Exp Emerg Med. 2014 Sep 30;1(1):8–18.
- 21. Jeschke MG, van Baar ME, Choudhry MA, Chung KK, Gibran NS, Logsetty S. Burn injury. Nat Rev Dis Primer. 2020 Feb 13;6(1):11.
- 22. Pencle FJ, Mowery ML, Zulfiqar H. First Degree Burn. In: StatPearls [Internet]. Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing; 2023 [cited 2023 May 12]. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK442021/
- 23. Lanham JS, Nelson NK, Hendren B, Jordan TS. Outpatient Burn Care: Prevention and Treatment. Am Fam Physician. 2020 Apr 15;101(8):463–70.
- 24. Schaefer TJ, Szymanski KD. Burn Evaluation And Management. In: StatPearls [Internet]. Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing; 2023 [cited 2023 May 12]. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK430741/
- 25. Warby R, Maani CV. Burn Classification. In: StatPearls [Internet]. Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing; 2023 [cited 2023 May 12]. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK539773/
- 26. Alvarado R, Chung KK, Cancio LC, Wolf SE. Burn resuscitation. Burns J Int Soc Burn Inj. 2009 Feb;35(1):4–14.
- 27. Tejiram S, Romanowski KS, Palmieri TL. Initial management of severe burn injury. Curr Opin Crit Care. 2019 Dec;25(6):647–52.
- 28. White CE, Renz EM. Advances in surgical care: management of severe burn injury. Crit Care Med. 2008 Jul;36(7 Suppl):S318-324.
- 29. Smith JE, Garner J. Pathophysiology of primary blast injury. J R Army Med Corps. 2019 Feb;165(1):57–62.
- 30. Champion HR, Holcomb JB, Young LA. Injuries from explosions: physics, biophysics, pathology, and required research focus. J Trauma. 2009 May;66(5):1468–77; discussion 1477.
- 31. Eskridge SL, Macera CA, Galarneau MR, Holbrook TL, Woodruff SI, MacGregor AJ, et al. Injuries from combat explosions in Iraq: injury type, location, and severity. Injury. 2012 Oct;43(10):1678–82.

- 32. Leikin JB, Aks SE, Andrews S, Auerbach PS, Cooper MA, Jacobsen TD, et al. Environmental injuries. Dis--Mon DM. 1997 Dec;43(12):809–916.
- 33. Zemaitis MR, Foris LA, Lopez RA, Huecker MR. Electrical Injuries. In: StatPearls [Internet]. Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing; 2023 [cited 2023 May 12]. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK448087/
- 34. Bracker MD. Environmental and thermal injury. Clin Sports Med. 1992 Apr;11(2):419–36.
- 35. Bartholome CW, Jacoby WD, Ramchand SC. Cutaneous manifestations of lightning injury. Arch Dermatol. 1975 Nov;111(11):1466–8.
- 36. Christophides T, Khan S, Ahmad M, Fayed H, Bogle R. Cardiac Effects of Lightning Strikes. Arrhythmia Electrophysiol Rev. 2017 Aug;6(3):114–7.
- 37. Gentges J, Schieche C. Electrical injuries in the emergency department: an evidence-based review. Emerg Med Pract. 2018 Nov;20(11):1–20.
- 38. Taylor AT. High-altitude illnesses: physiology, risk factors, prevention, and treatment. Rambam Maimonides Med J. 2011 Jan;2(1):e0022.
- 39. Hubbard M, Davis FM, Malcolm K, Mitchell SJ. Decompression illness and other injuries in a recreational dive charter operation. Diving Hyperb Med. 2018 Dec 24;48(4):218–23.
- 40. Battisti AS, Haftel A, Murphy-Lavoie HM. Barotrauma. In: StatPearls [Internet]. Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing; 2023 [cited 2023 May 12]. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK482348/
- 41. Galvagno SM, Nahmias JT, Young DA. Advanced Trauma Life Support® Update 2019: Management and Applications for Adults and Special Populations. Anesthesiol Clin. 2019 Mar;37(1):13–32.
- 42. Beattie TF. Prehospital emergency care. Eur J Emerg Med Off J Eur Soc Emerg Med. 1998 Mar;5(1):47–51.
- 43. Balhara KS, Bustamante ND, Selvam A, Winders WT, Coker A, Trehan I, et al. Bystander Assistance for Trauma Victims in Low- and Middle-Income Countries: A Systematic Review of Prevalence and Training Interventions. Prehosp Emerg Care. 2019;23(3):389–410.
- 44. Flynn D, Francis R, Robalino S, Lally J, Snooks H, Rodgers H, et al. A review of enhanced paramedic roles during and after hospital handover of stroke, myocardial infarction and trauma patients. BMC Emerg Med. 2017 Feb 23;17(1):5.
- 45. Thim T, Krarup NHV, Grove EL, Rohde CV, Løfgren B. Initial assessment and treatment with the Airway, Breathing, Circulation, Disability, Exposure (ABCDE) approach. Int J Gen Med. 2012;5:117–21.
- 46. Markou NK, Myrianthefs PM, Baltopoulos GJ. Respiratory failure: an overview. Crit Care Nurs Q. 2004;27(4):353–79.

- 47. Siddiqui AK. Airway management for cervical spine injury. Saudi Med J. 2009 Sep;30(9):1133–7.
- 48. Maximus S, Figueroa C, Whealon M, Pham J, Kuncir E, Barrios C. eFAST for Pneumothorax: Real-Life Application in an Urban Level 1 Center by Trauma Team Members. Am Surg. 2018 Feb 1;84(2):220–4.
- 49. Ukeh I, Fang A, Patel S, Opoku K, Nezami N. Percutaneous Chest Tube for Pleural Effusion and Pneumothorax. Semin Interv Radiol. 2022 Jun;39(3):234–47.
- 50. Smith D, Bowden T. Using the ABCDE approach to assess the deteriorating patient. Nurs Stand R Coll Nurs G B 1987. 2017 Nov 29;32(14):51–63.
- 51. Bloom BA, Gibbons RC. Focused Assessment with Sonography for Trauma. In: StatPearls [Internet]. Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing; 2023 [cited 2023 May 14]. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK470479/
- 52. Wise R, Faurie M, Malbrain MLNG, Hodgson E. Strategies for Intravenous Fluid Resuscitation in Trauma Patients. World J Surg. 2017 May;41(5):1170–83.
- 53. Banerjee S, Singhi SC, Singh S, Singh M. The intraosseous route is a suitable alternative to intravenous route for fluid resuscitation in severely dehydrated children. Indian Pediatr. 1994 Dec;31(12):1511–20.
- 54. Georges A, M Das J. Traumatic Brain Injury. In: StatPearls [Internet]. Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing; 2023 [cited 2023 May 15]. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK459300/
- 55. Duncan R, Thakore S. Decreased Glasgow Coma Scale score does not mandate endotracheal intubation in the emergency department. J Emerg Med. 2009 Nov;37(4):451–5.
- 56. Zemaitis MR, Planas JH, Waseem M. Trauma Secondary Survey. In: StatPearls [Internet]. Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing; 2023 [cited 2023 May 15]. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK441902/
- 57. Zamboni C, Yonamine AM, Faria CEN, Filho MAM, Christian RW, Mercadante MT. Tertiary survey in trauma patients: avoiding neglected injuries. Injury. 2014 Nov;45 Suppl 5:S14-17.
- 58. Enderson BL, Reath DB, Meadors J, Dallas W, DeBoo JM, Maull KI. The tertiary trauma survey: a prospective study of missed injury. J Trauma. 1990 Jun;30(6):666–9; discussion 669-670.
- 59. Grossman MD, Born C. Tertiary survey of the trauma patient in the intensive care unit. Surg Clin North Am. 2000 Jun;80(3):805–24.
- 60. Berkow LC. Strategies for airway management. Best Pract Res Clin Anaesthesiol. 2004 Dec;18(4):531–48.
- 61. Khan RM, Sharma PK, Kaul N. Airway management in trauma. Indian J Anaesth. 2011 Sep;55(5):463–9.

- 62. Prasarn ML, Horodyski M, Scott NE, Konopka G, Conrad B, Rechtine GR. Motion generated in the unstable upper cervical spine during head tilt-chin lift and jaw thrust maneuvers. Spine J Off J North Am Spine Soc. 2014 Apr;14(4):609–14.
- 63. Bucher JT, Vashisht R, Ladd M, Cooper JS. Bag Mask Ventilation. In: StatPearls [Internet]. Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing; 2023 [cited 2023 May 25]. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK441924/
- 64. Davies JD, Costa BK, Asciutto AJ. Approaches to manual ventilation. Respir Care. 2014 Jun;59(6):810–22; discussion 822-824.
- 65. Castro D, Freeman LA. Oropharyngeal Airway. In: StatPearls [Internet]. Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing; 2023 [cited 2023 May 25]. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK470198/
- 66. Atanelov Z, Aina T, Amin B, Rebstock SE. Nasopharyngeal Airway. In: StatPearls [Internet]. Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing; 2023 [cited 2023 May 25]. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK513220/
- 67. Ramachandran SK, Kumar AM. Supraglottic airway devices. Respir Care. 2014 Jun;59(6):920–31; discussion 931-932.
- 68. Metterlein T, Dintenfelder A, Plank C, Graf B, Roth G. A comparison of various supraglottic airway devices for fiberoptical guided tracheal intubation. Braz J Anesthesiol Elsevier. 2017;67(2):166–71.
- 69. Sorbello M, Petrini F. Supraglottic Airway Devices: the Search for the Best Insertion Technique or the Time to Change Our Point of View? Turk J Anaesthesiol Reanim. 2017 Apr;45(2):76–82.
- 70. Ahmed RA, Boyer TJ. Endotracheal Tube. In: StatPearls [Internet]. Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing; 2023 [cited 2023 May 25]. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK539747/
- 71. Weingart SD, Levitan RM. Preoxygenation and prevention of desaturation during emergency airway management. Ann Emerg Med. 2012 Mar;59(3):165-175.e1.
- 72. Ji SM, Moon EJ, Kim TJ, Yi JW, Seo H, Lee BJ. Correlation between modified LEMON score and intubation difficulty in adult trauma patients undergoing emergency surgery. World J Emerg Surg WJES. 2018;13:33.
- 73. McNeir DA, Mainous EG, Trieger N. Propofol as an intravenous agent in general anesthesia and conscious sedation. Anesth Prog. 1988;35(4):147–51.
- 74. Meyancı Köksal G, Erbabacan E, Tunalı Y, Karaören G, Vehid S, Öz H. The effect of single dose etomidate during emergency intubation on hemodynamics and adrenal cortex.

  Ulus Travma Ve Acil Cerrahi Derg Turk J Trauma Emerg Surg TJTES. 2015 Sep;21(5):358–65.
- 75. Krebs W, Werman H, Jackson J, Swecker KA, Hutchison H, Rodgers M, et al. Prehospital Ketamine Use for Rapid Sequence Intubation: Are Higher Doses Associated With Adverse Events? Air Med J. 2021;40(1):36–40.

- 76. Wilcox SR, Bittner EA, Elmer J, Seigel TA, Nguyen NTP, Dhillon A, et al. Neuromuscular blocking agent administration for emergent tracheal intubation is associated with decreased prevalence of procedure-related complications. Crit Care Med. 2012 Jun;40(6):1808–13.
- 77. Kopman AF, Zhaku B, Lai KS. The "intubating dose" of succinylcholine: the effect of decreasing doses on recovery time. Anesthesiology. 2003 Nov;99(5):1050–4.
- 78. Muñoz-Martínez T, Garrido-Santos I, Arévalo-Cerón R, Rojas-Viguera L, Cantera-Fernández T, Pérez-González R, et al. [Contraindications to succinylcholine in the intensive care unit. A prevalence study]. Med Intensiva. 2015 Mar;39(2):90–6.
- 79. Sakles JC, Laurin EG, Rantapaa AA, Panacek EA. Rocuronium for rapid sequence intubation of emergency department patients. J Emerg Med. 1999;17(4):611–6.
- 80. Mallon WK, Keim SM, Shoenberger JM, Walls RM. Rocuronium vs. succinylcholine in the emergency department: a critical appraisal. J Emerg Med. 2009 Aug;37(2):183–8.
- 81. Peterson K, Ginglen JG, Desai NM, Guzman N. Direct Laryngoscopy. In: StatPearls [Internet]. Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing; 2023 [cited 2023 May 25]. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK513224/
- 82. Cooper JD. Tracheal Injuries Complicating Prolonged Intubation and Tracheostomy. Thorac Surg Clin. 2018 May;28(2):139–44.
- 83. Lehmann M, Monte K, Barach P, Kindler CH. Postoperative patient complaints: a prospective interview study of 12,276 patients. J Clin Anesth. 2010 Feb;22(1):13–21.
- 84. Evman MD, Selcuk AA. Vocal Cord Paralysis as a Complication of Endotracheal Intubation. J Craniofac Surg. 2020;31(2):e119–20.
- 85. Lewis SR, Butler AR, Parker J, Cook TM, Smith AF. Videolaryngoscopy versus direct laryngoscopy for adult patients requiring tracheal intubation. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2016 Nov 15;11(11):CD011136.
- 86. Russotto V, Myatra SN, Laffey JG, Tassistro E, Antolini L, Bauer P, et al. Intubation Practices and Adverse Peri-intubation Events in Critically III Patients From 29 Countries. JAMA. 2021 Mar 23;325(12):1164–72.
- 87. Weingart SD, Trueger NS, Wong N, Scofi J, Singh N, Rudolph SS. Delayed sequence intubation: a prospective observational study. Ann Emerg Med. 2015 Apr;65(4):349–55.
- Saeed F, Lasrado S. Extubation. In: StatPearls [Internet]. Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing; 2023 [cited 2023 May 26]. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK539804/
- 89. Asai T. [Cannot intubate, cannot ventilate: airway management of difficult airways in adults]. Masui. 2006 Jan;55(1):13–23.
- 90. Brofeldt BT, Panacek EA, Richards JR. An easy cricothyrotomy approach: the rapid four-step technique. Acad Emerg Med Off J Soc Acad Emerg Med. 1996 Nov;3(11):1060–3.

- 91. Mace SE, Khan N. Needle cricothyrotomy. Emerg Med Clin North Am. 2008 Nov;26(4):1085–101, xi.
- 92. Scrase I, Woollard M. Needle vs surgical cricothyroidotomy: a short cut to effective ventilation. Anaesthesia. 2006 Oct;61(10):962–74.
- 93. Bontempo LJ, Manning SL. Tracheostomy Emergencies. Emerg Med Clin North Am. 2019 Feb;37(1):109–19.
- 94. Dillon JK, Christensen B, Fairbanks T, Jurkovich G, Moe KS. The emergent surgical airway: cricothyrotomy vs. tracheotomy. Int J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2013 Feb;42(2):204–8.
- 95. Gutierrez G, Reines HD, Wulf-Gutierrez ME. Clinical review: Hemorrhagic shock. Crit Care. 2004;8(5):373–81.
- 96. Weiskopf RB, Viele MK, Feiner J, Kelley S, Lieberman J, Noorani M, et al. Human cardiovascular and metabolic response to acute, severe isovolemic anemia. JAMA. 1998 Jan 21;279(3):217–21.
- 97. Hooper N, Armstrong TJ. Hemorrhagic Shock. In: StatPearls [Internet]. Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing; 2023 [cited 2023 Jun 4]. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK470382/
- 98. Moore EE, Moore HB, Kornblith LZ, Neal MD, Hoffman M, Mutch NJ, et al. Trauma-induced coagulopathy. Nat Rev Dis Primer. 2021 Apr 29;7(1):30.
- 99. Davenport RA, Brohi K. Cause of trauma-induced coagulopathy. Curr Opin Anaesthesiol. 2016 Apr;29(2):212–9.
- 100. Frith D, Brohi K. The pathophysiology of trauma-induced coagulopathy. Curr Opin Crit Care. 2012 Dec;18(6):631–6.
- 101. Davenport R. Pathogenesis of acute traumatic coagulopathy. Transfusion (Paris). 2013 Jan;53 Suppl 1:23S-27S.
- 102. Fries D, Streif W, Haas T, Kühbacher G. [Dilutional coagulopathy, an underestimated problem?]. Anasthesiologie Intensivmed Notfallmedizin Schmerzther AINS. 2004 Dec;39(12):745–50.
- 103. Caspers M, Maegele M, Fröhlich M. Current strategies for hemostatic control in acute trauma hemorrhage and trauma-induced coagulopathy. Expert Rev Hematol. 2018 Dec;11(12):987–95.
- 104. Bowley DM, Barker P, Boffard KD. Damage control surgery--concepts and practice. J R Army Med Corps. 2000 Oct;146(3):176–82.
- 105. Le Noël A, Mérat S, Ausset S, De Rudnicki S, Mion G. [The damage control resuscitation concept]. Ann Fr Anesth Reanim. 2011 Sep;30(9):665–78.
- 106. Ramakrishnan VT, Cattamanchi S. Transfusion practices in trauma. Indian J Anaesth. 2014 Sep;58(5):609–15.

- 107. Cap AP, Beckett A, Benov A, Borgman M, Chen J, Corley JB, et al. Whole Blood Transfusion. Mil Med. 2018 Sep 1;183(suppl\_2):44–51.
- 108. Allain JP, Stramer SL, Carneiro-Proietti ABF, Martins ML, Lopes da Silva SN, Ribeiro M, et al. Transfusion-transmitted infectious diseases. Biol J Int Assoc Biol Stand. 2009 Apr;37(2):71–7.
- 109. Janatpour K, Holland PV. Noninfectious serious hazards of transfusion. Curr Hematol Rep. 2002 Nov;1(2):149–55.
- 110. Meneses E, Boneva D, McKenney M, Elkbuli A. Massive transfusion protocol in adult trauma population. Am J Emerg Med. 2020 Dec;38(12):2661–6.
- 111. Stephens CT, Gumbert S, Holcomb JB. Trauma-associated bleeding: management of massive transfusion. Curr Opin Anaesthesiol. 2016 Apr;29(2):250–5.
- 112. Ghadimi K, Levy JH, Welsby IJ. Perioperative management of the bleeding patient. Br J Anaesth. 2016 Dec;117(suppl 3):iii18–30.
- 113. Thapa K, Khan H, Singh TG, Kaur A. Traumatic Brain Injury: Mechanistic Insight on Pathophysiology and Potential Therapeutic Targets. J Mol Neurosci MN. 2021 Sep;71(9):1725–42.
- 114. Vella MA, Crandall M, Patel MB. Acute Management of Traumatic Brain Injury. Surg Clin North Am. 2017 Oct;97(5):1015–30.
- 115. Mount CA, M Das J. Cerebral Perfusion Pressure. In: StatPearls [Internet]. Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing; 2023 [cited 2023 Jun 4]. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK537271/
- 116. Munakomi S, M Das J. Intracranial Pressure Monitoring. In: StatPearls [Internet]. Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing; 2023 [cited 2023 Jun 4]. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK542298/
- 117. Tang A, Pandit V, Fennell V, Jones T, Joseph B, O'Keeffe T, et al. Intracranial pressure monitor in patients with traumatic brain injury. J Surg Res. 2015 Apr;194(2):565–70.
- 118. Zhang Z, Guo Q, Wang E. Hyperventilation in neurological patients: from physiology to outcome evidence. Curr Opin Anaesthesiol. 2019 Oct;32(5):568–73.
- 119. Williamson CA, Sheehan KM, Tipirneni R, Roark CD, Pandey AS, Thompson BG, et al. The Association Between Spontaneous Hyperventilation, Delayed Cerebral Ischemia, and Poor Neurological Outcome in Patients with Subarachnoid Hemorrhage. Neurocrit Care. 2015 Dec;23(3):330–8.
- 120. Francony G, Fauvage B, Falcon D, Canet C, Dilou H, Lavagne P, et al. Equimolar doses of mannitol and hypertonic saline in the treatment of increased intracranial pressure. Crit Care Med. 2008 Mar;36(3):795–800.
- 121. Rakhit S, Nordness MF, Lombardo SR, Cook M, Smith L, Patel MB. Management and Challenges of Severe Traumatic Brain Injury. Semin Respir Crit Care Med. 2021 Feb;42(1):127–44.

- 122. Velle F, Lewén A, Howells T, Enblad P, Nilsson P. Intracranial pressure-based barbiturate coma treatment in children with refractory intracranial hypertension due to traumatic brain injury. J Neurosurg Pediatr. 2019 Dec 27;1–9.
- 123. Ziegler B, Kenngott T, Fischer S, Hundeshagen G, Hartmann B, Horter J, et al. Early hypothermia as risk factor in severely burned patients: A retrospective outcome study. Burns J Int Soc Burn Inj. 2019 Dec;45(8):1895–900.
- 124. Robins EV. Burn shock. Crit Care Nurs Clin North Am. 1990 Jun;2(2):299–307.
- 125. Huan J ning. [Advances in the research of fluid resuscitation for burn shock]. Zhonghua Shao Shang Za Zhi Zhonghua Shaoshang Zazhi Chin J Burns. 2013 Jun;29(3):285–8.
- 126. Daniels M, Fuchs PC, Lefering R, Grigutsch D, Seyhan H, Limper U, et al. Is the Parkland formula still the best method for determining the fluid resuscitation volume in adults for the first 24 hours after injury? A retrospective analysis of burn patients in Germany. Burns J Int Soc Burn Inj. 2021 Jun;47(4):914–21.
- 127. Mehta M, Tudor GJ. Parkland Formula. In: StatPearls [Internet]. Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing; 2023 [cited 2023 Jun 4]. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK537190/
- 128. Chung KK, Wolf SE, Cancio LC, Alvarado R, Jones JA, McCorcle J, et al. Resuscitation of severely burned military casualties: fluid begets more fluid. J Trauma. 2009 Aug;67(2):231–7; discussion 237.
- 129. Saffle JR. Fluid Creep and Over-resuscitation. Crit Care Clin. 2016 Oct;32(4):587–98.
- 130. Saffle JIL. The phenomenon of "fluid creep" in acute burn resuscitation. J Burn Care Res Off Publ Am Burn Assoc. 2007;28(3):382–95.
- 131. Foncerrada G, Culnan DM, Capek KD, González-Trejo S, Cambiaso-Daniel J, Woodson LC, et al. Inhalation Injury in the Burned Patient. Ann Plast Surg. 2018 Mar;80(3 Suppl 2):S98–105.
- 132. Gigengack RK, Cleffken BI, Loer SA. Advances in airway management and mechanical ventilation in inhalation injury. Curr Opin Anaesthesiol. 2020 Dec;33(6):774–80.
- 133. Allegri M, Clark MR, De Andrés J, Jensen TS. Acute and chronic pain: where we are and where we have to go. Minerva Anestesiol. 2012 Feb;78(2):222–35.
- 134. Grichnik KP, Ferrante FM. The difference between acute and chronic pain. Mt Sinai J Med N Y. 1991 May;58(3):217–20.
- 135. Karcioglu O, Topacoglu H, Dikme O, Dikme O. A systematic review of the pain scales in adults: Which to use? Am J Emerg Med. 2018 Apr;36(4):707–14.
- 136. Amaechi O, Huffman MM, Featherstone K. Pharmacologic Therapy for Acute Pain. Am Fam Physician. 2021 Jul 1;104(1):63–72.

- 137. Anekar AA, Cascella M. WHO Analgesic Ladder. In: StatPearls [Internet]. Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing; 2023 [cited 2023 Jun 4]. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK554435/
- 138. Chu SJ, Yoon KT, Kim JS. [Prevention of Non-steroidal Anti-inflammatory Drug-induced Peptic Ulcers]. Korean J Gastroenterol Taehan Sohwagi Hakhoe Chi. 2020 Nov 25;76(5):232–7.
- 139. De Giorgio R, Zucco FM, Chiarioni G, Mercadante S, Corazziari ES, Caraceni A, et al. Management of Opioid-Induced Constipation and Bowel Dysfunction: Expert Opinion of an Italian Multidisciplinary Panel. Adv Ther. 2021 Jul;38(7):3589–621.
- 140. Kern J, Guinn A, Mehta P. Procedural sedation and analgesia in the emergency department. Emerg Med Pract. 2022 Jun;24(6):1–24.
- 141. Benzoni T, Cascella M. Procedural Sedation. In: StatPearls [Internet]. Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing; 2023 [cited 2023 Jun 4]. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK551685/
- 142. Pitetti RD, Singh S, Pierce MC. Safe and efficacious use of procedural sedation and analgesia by nonanesthesiologists in a pediatric emergency department. Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med. 2003 Nov;157(11):1090–6.
- 143. Payen JF, Bru O, Bosson JL, Lagrasta A, Novel E, Deschaux I, et al. Assessing pain in critically ill sedated patients by using a behavioral pain scale. Crit Care Med. 2001 Dec;29(12):2258–63.
- 144. Wojnar-Gruszka K, Sega A, Płaszewska-Żywko L, Wojtan S, Potocka M, Kózka M. Pain Assessment with the BPS and CCPOT Behavioral Pain Scales in Mechanically Ventilated Patients Requiring Analgesia and Sedation. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2022 Sep 1;19(17):10894.
- 145. Kohler M, Chiu F, Gelber KM, Webb CA, Weyker PD. Pain management in critically ill patients: a review of multimodal treatment options. Pain Manag. 2016 Nov;6(6):591–602.
- 146. Eisenberg E, River Y, Shifrin A, Krivoy N. Antiepileptic drugs in the treatment of neuropathic pain. Drugs. 2007;67(9):1265–89.
- 147. Sedlacek M, Schoolwerth AC, Remillard BD. Electrolyte disturbances in the intensive care unit. Semin Dial. 2006;19(6):496–501.
- 148. Rajagopal R, Swaminathan G, Nair S, Joseph M. Hyponatremia in Traumatic Brain Injury: A Practical Management Protocol. World Neurosurg. 2017 Dec;108:529–33.
- 149. Buffington MA, Abreo K. Hyponatremia: A Review. J Intensive Care Med. 2016 May;31(4):223–36.
- 150. Adrogué HJ, Tucker BM, Madias NE. Diagnosis and Management of Hyponatremia: A Review. JAMA. 2022 Jul 19;328(3):280–91.
- 151. Sahay M, Sahay R. Hyponatremia: A practical approach. Indian J Endocrinol Metab. 2014 Nov;18(6):760–71.

- 152. Huang CL, Kuo E. Mechanism of hypokalemia in magnesium deficiency. J Am Soc Nephrol JASN. 2007 Oct;18(10):2649–52.
- 153. Kardalas E, Paschou SA, Anagnostis P, Muscogiuri G, Siasos G, Vryonidou A. Hypokalemia: a clinical update. Endocr Connect. 2018 Apr;7(4):R135–46.
- 154. Cohn JN, Kowey PR, Whelton PK, Prisant LM. New guidelines for potassium replacement in clinical practice: a contemporary review by the National Council on Potassium in Clinical Practice. Arch Intern Med. 2000 Sep 11;160(16):2429–36.
- 155. Hansen BA, Bruserud Ø. Hypomagnesemia in critically ill patients. J Intensive Care. 2018;6:21.
- 156. Kraft MD, Btaiche IF, Sacks GS, Kudsk KA. Treatment of electrolyte disorders in adult patients in the intensive care unit. Am J Health-Syst Pharm AJHP Off J Am Soc Health-Syst Pharm. 2005 Aug 15;62(16):1663–82.
- 157. Martin KJ, González EA, Slatopolsky E. Clinical consequences and management of hypomagnesemia. J Am Soc Nephrol JASN. 2009 Nov;20(11):2291–5.
- 158. Goyal A, Anastasopoulou C, Ngu M, Singh S. Hypocalcemia. In: StatPearls [Internet]. Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing; 2023 [cited 2023 Jun 4]. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK430912/
- 159. Pepe J, Colangelo L, Biamonte F, Sonato C, Danese VC, Cecchetti V, et al. Diagnosis and management of hypocalcemia. Endocrine. 2020 Sep;69(3):485–95.
- 160. Felsenfeld AJ, Levine BS. Approach to treatment of hypophosphatemia. Am J Kidney Dis Off J Natl Kidney Found. 2012 Oct;60(4):655–61.
- 161. Brown KA, Dickerson RN, Morgan LM, Alexander KH, Minard G, Brown RO. A new graduated dosing regimen for phosphorus replacement in patients receiving nutrition support. JPEN J Parenter Enteral Nutr. 2006;30(3):209–14.
- 162. Shajahan A, Ajith Kumar J, Gireesh Kumar KP, Sreekrishnan TP, Jismy K. Managing hypophosphatemia in critically ill patients: a report on an under-diagnosed electrolyte anomaly. J Clin Pharm Ther. 2015 Jun;40(3):353–4.

## 7. Biography

Kareem Younis, born on the 8<sup>th</sup> of January 1998, is a highly motivated and ambitious individual and a reliable medical student. Once he completed his primary and secondary education in Israel, he learned the German language in Munich, Germany. He then moved to Zagreb, Croatia to begin his medical studies in English at the University of Zagreb in September 2017. During his medical studies, he volunteered in various departments in different hospitals in the city of Zagreb and his homeland, which made him gain experience and further improved his personality and character. Being able to speak five different languages fluently and having vital work experience with both medical practitioners and patients, he possesses all the qualities, aptitude, and enthusiasm to make a positive contribution to the medical field. After graduating, he will be looking forward to honing and enhancing his current skill set and applying it to his future career in medicine.